RECEIVED

May 29 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TREVOR ANTHONY IRVIN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001075

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by excluding Appellant's testimony that he was aware the decedent was in a gang since the evidence was relevant to Appellant's state of mind during the confrontation with the decedent, particularly as to whether Appellant had a reasonable apprehension of violence from the decedent, an element of his self-defense case?

2.

Did the trial court err by failing to tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by Appellant, specifically that Appellant did not have to wait before acting in self-defense, when the charge was supported by the evidence and was crucial to the jury's understanding of the law on self-defense?

3.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by excluding testimony from Appellant's expert in firearms and use of force when the evidence was admissible pursuant to Rule 702, SCRE, as it would have assisted the jury in this self-defense case in understanding how stress during a deadly force situation affects an individual's decision making process?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lexington County grand jury indicted Appellant on August 8, 2022 for the offense of murder. R. * (Indictment). His case was called to trial on June 19, 2023 before the Honorable Debra McCaslin, and a jury. Tr. 1. Assistant Solicitors Sutania Fuller and Rhonda Patterson represented the state. John Mobley represented Appellant. Tr. 1.

On June 23, 2023, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. Tr. 809, ll. 13-19. He was sentenced to forty-five years' imprisonment. Tr. 827, ll. 8-10.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court abused its discretion by excluding Appellant’s testimony that he was aware the decedent was in a gang since the evidence was relevant to Appellant’s state of mind during the confrontation with the decedent, particularly as to whether Appellant had a reasonable apprehension of violence from the decedent, an element of his self-defense case.

Relevant Facts

The state moved pretrial to exclude any evidence the decedent was in a gang. The assistant solicitor argued any such evidence was not relevant and should be excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, because it is “highly prejudicial.”

Defense counsel argued Appellant’s belief that he was being attacked by a “violent gang member” was relevant to Appellant’s self-defense case. More specifically, counsel argued the evidence was relevant to Appellant’s state of mind and whether he “had a reasonable belief of death, of serious bodily injury.” He distinguished this case from State v. Sobers, 404 S.C. 263, 744 S.E.2d 588 (Ct. App. 2013), where this Court held the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by finding evidence the decedent and other individuals present during the shooting were members of a gang was not relevant. Counsel explained to the trial court that this Court emphasized in Sobers that the defendant could have offered gang evidence if he could have established the requisite relevancy. However, Sobers, who alleged he acted in self-defense, never testified the mob that surrounded his car was part of a gang. According to Sobers, the mob action caused him to fear for his life and fire his gun, but he never testified that he was more fearful because the mob was part of a gang. Tr. 73, l. 7 – 74, l. 12. Accordingly, the decedent’s gang affiliation was not relevant.

Based on the holding in Sobers, defense counsel argued that “if the defendant relates part of his fearfulness to the gang activity, the gang affiliation of the deceased, that makes it relevant because [the evidence] goes to the reasonableness of his apprehension of serious bodily harm.” Tr. 72, l. 13 – 74, l. 22.

The assistant solicitor asserted that “the only person who can make that [the decedent’s gang affiliation] relevant right now in camera is the defendant, because it’s not coming in [the] State’s case in chief, we’re not going to offer anything about the victim being in a gang. We’re not going to offer anything about, oh, the defendant was in fear of the victim because he was in a gang.” Tr. 76, l. 24 – 77, l. 5. Consequently, she requested the trial court restrict Appellant from discussing the decedent’s gang affiliation during opening statements and cross-examination until the court ruled on the matter. Tr. 79, ll. 10-25.

The trial court refused to rule on the motion pretrial and stated Appellant would have to proffer the evidence later on. Tr. 75, ll. 6-19.

Before Appellant testified before the jury, defense counsel requested to proffer his testimony concerning the decedent’s gang affiliation. Counsel explained that Appellant was “prepared to testify” that he knew the decedent was a member of a gang and, critically, as a result of this knowledge, Appellant was more fearful for his life. Tr. 431, l. 23 – 432, l. 18.

The assistant solicitor argued the evidence was not relevant and was a “blatant attempt to assassinate the character of the victim.” She suggested the evidence was “fabricated” because Appellant did not mention the decedent’s gang affiliation during his statement to law enforcement shortly after his arrest. While Appellant stated he acted in self-defense during his statement and that the decedent attacked him first, Appellant did not say he was more fearful because the decedent was in a gang. Because Appellant did not mention the decedent’s gang

membership previously, the solicitor suggested Appellant must have made it up. She also argued the evidence should be excluded pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. Tr. 434, l. 3 – 436, l. 10.

Appellant testified *in camera* that the decedent “would boast about being in a gang.” He “would express openly about” being a “member of . . . one of the most notorious gangs in South Carolina.” Appellant explained that the decedent told him “that he could have me gone.” Appellant did not know if this meant “gone from the job [at the House of Raeford] or having stuff done to me through his gang or he would do it himself.” Appellant testified that his knowledge of the decedent’s gang affiliation made him more fearful of the decedent on the day of the shooting. His knowledge “made everything more of a . . . terrorizing situation or a fearful situation.” Tr. 445, l. 6 – 446, l. 24.

On cross-examination during the proffer, Appellant testified that he did not tell his supervisor at the House of Raeford or the police that the decedent threatened to harm him or have members of his gang harm him. However, he clarified that the threats occurred on the day of the shooting. Specifically, Appellant testified, “On that day he threatened to kill me and have things done to me by members of his gang.” This occurred at the gas station shortly before the shooting. Tr. 447, l. 6 – 449, l. 14; Tr. 451, l. 22 – 452, l. 2.

Appellant further testified that other employees at the House of Raeford were members of the decedent’s gang and the decedent “helped plenty of gang members at the job.” While Appellant never witnessed any violence committed by the decedent or his gang, he heard “them talk about stuff that they did.” Tr. 453, l. 10 – 454, l. 23. However, on the day of the shooting, there were no other gang members in the parking lot and no one beside the decedent threatened him. Tr. 455, l. 13 – 456, l. 13.

After the proffer, defense counsel argued Appellant's testimony that the decedent's gang affiliation was "a basis for him being fearful of the deceased" should be admitted. He maintained that the solicitor could cross-examine Appellant about the "legitimacy" of his belief or fear. Counsel concluded Appellant should be permitted to testify to the "facts and circumstances that were a reasonable basis for him to believe his life was in danger and be fearful of the deceased." Tr. 457, l. 17 – 458, l. 4.

The assistant solicitor continued to argue the evidence was irrelevant. She maintained there was "no suggestion here that gang influence played any part of this shooting." She also argued Rule 403 should "keep that out." Tr. 458, l. 5 – 459, l. 13.

After taking the matter under advisement overnight, the trial court ultimately held the evidence was inadmissible. It stated, "The Defendant was proffered yesterday on the stand. He testified that the victim belonged to a gang, that there were employees at the chicken plant that were also gang members, that some of them wore red bandanas. And maybe this victim bragged about committing robberies and shootings. However, he also testified that in the two years that he worked with him [the decedent], he really had no problems with him. That it was the day of the incident that he felt that the victim threatened him. I find the defendant has failed to show the relevance of any possible gang association with this shooting." Tr. 474, l. 5 – 475, l. 4. In support of its ruling, the court cited to State v. Robinson, 438 S.C. 421, 882 S.E.2d 883 (Ct. App. 2023), Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. 550, 860 S.E.2d 696 (Ct. App. 2021), and State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 842 S.E.2d 654 (2020). Pursuant to these cases, the court asserted the evidence had to be "logically relevant" to a "material factor." In Johnson, the court emphasized there "was a critical connection between gang activity and the incident itself." Tr. 475, ll. 4-10.

Standard of Review

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Sobers, 404 S.C. 263, 267, 744 S.E.2d 588, 590 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id. at 267-68, 744 S.E.2d at 590 (quoting State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011)).

Discussion

The trial court abused its discretion by excluding Appellant’s testimony that he was aware the decedent was in a gang since the evidence was relevant to Appellant’s state of mind during the confrontation with the decedent, particularly as to whether Appellant had a reasonable apprehension of violence from the decedent, an element of his self-defense case.

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice . . .” Rule 403, SCRE. Unfair prejudice pursuant to Rule 403 “is the tendency of the evidence to suggest a decision based on something other than the legitimate probative force of the evidence.” State v. Phillips, 430 S.C. 319, 328, 844 S.E.2d 651, 656 (2020) (citing State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 616, 759 S.E.2d 160, 168 (Ct. App. 2014)); See State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228-229 (2010).

Appellant testified *in camera* that the decedent “would boast about being in a gang.” He “would express openly about” being a “member of . . . one of the most notorious gangs in South Carolina.” Appellant explained that the decedent told him “that he could have me gone.” Appellant did not know if this meant “gone from the job [at the House of Raeford] or having stuff done to me through his gang or he would do it himself.” Appellant later clarified that the decedent made threats related to his gang on the day of the shooting. Specifically, Appellant testified, “On that day he threatened to kill me and have things done to me by members of his gang.” This occurred at the gas station shortly before the shooting. Appellant testified that his knowledge of the decedent’s gang affiliation made him more fearful of the decedent on the day of the shooting. His knowledge “made everything more of a . . . terrorizing situation or a fearful situation.” Tr. 445, l. 6 – 446, l. 24; Tr. 447, l. 6 – 449, l. 14.

This evidence was relevant to Appellant’s state of mind during the confrontation with the decedent. It was also relevant as to whether Appellant’s fear of great bodily injury or death was reasonable, a critical element of his defense. See State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984) (“There are four elements required by law to establish self-defense . . . First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. *Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life.* Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or

sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance. If, however, the defendant was on his own premises he had no duty to retreat before acting in self-defense.”) (emphasis added).

The decedent’s gang affiliation and threats related to his gang logically created some apprehension of the decedent by Appellant. The trial court abused its discretion by excluding this relevant evidence which was probative of Appellant’s defense. Our Supreme Court has been protective of a defendant’s right to present a complete self-defense case when he is charged with murder, and to have a fully charged jury if the charge went to the jury. See State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 716 S.E.2d 97 (2011); State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989); State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978).

Moreover, the probative value of this evidence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice *to the state*. See Rule 403, SCRE (“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”). For the same reasons the evidence was relevant, as argued above, the evidence was probative. It was essential to Appellant’s self-defense case. Additionally, there was little, if any, prejudice to the state, let alone *unfair* prejudice. Appellant did not seek to admit the evidence to “assassinate” the decedent’s character. He only sought to use the evidence to show why his apprehension of the decedent was reasonable.

The trial court’s citation to State v. Robinson, 438 S.C. 421, 882 S.E.2d 883 (Ct. App. 2023) and State v. Perry, 430 S.C. 24, 842 S.E.2d 654 (2020) was misplaced as these cases address the admission of prior bad act evidence pursuant to Rule 404(b), SCRE. Additionally,

Johnson v. State, 433 S.C. 550, 860 S.E.2d 696 (Ct. App. 2021), which was also cited by the trial court, concerned the admission of the *defendant's* gang affiliation and is easily distinguishable from this case.

However, State v. Sobers, 404 S.C. 263, 744 S.E.2d 588 (Ct. App. 2013), which was cited by defense counsel at trial, is directly on point. In Sobers, this Court held the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by finding evidence the decedent and other individuals present during the shooting were members of a gang was not relevant. In so holding, this Court emphasized that Sobers, who alleged he acted in self-defense, never testified the mob that surrounded his car was part of a gang. According to Sobers, the mob action caused him to fear for his life and fire his gun, but he never testified that he was more fearful because the mob was part of a gang. Tr. 73, l. 7 – 74, l. 12. Accordingly, the decedent's gang affiliation was not relevant.

In this case, however, Appellant specifically testified that the decedent's gang affiliation caused him to fear the decedent and increased his apprehension of violence from the decedent. Consequently, it was relevant to Appellant's self-defense case and should have been admitted.

Respectfully, because the trial court abused its discretion by excluding this relevant evidence, this Court should reverse Appellant's conviction and remand for a new trial.

The trial court erred by failing to tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by Appellant, specifically that Appellant did not have to wait before acting in self-defense, when the charge was supported by the evidence and was crucial to the jury's understanding of the law on self-defense.

Relevant Facts

Appellant requested the trial court charge the jury that he did not have to wait before acting in self-defense. Defense counsel cited to State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997) in support of his request. Tr. 691, l. 5 – 699, l. 12. The assistant solicitor objected to the charge. She argued the instruction that the defendant has a right to act on appearances, which the court had already agreed to charge, “covers that.” Tr. 697, ll. 12-22.

Defense counsel disagreed. He asserted, “But there’s also the argument by the state that even if he [the decedent] was going for his [Appellant’s] gun, my client could’ve exercised a number of other options before firing. . . . [S]o my point is, he [Appellant] doesn’t have to hesitate to act if he believes he’s in imminent danger. If he - - once he has that belief, he does not have to hesitate. The law does not require that. . . . The jury needs to understand that if he [Appellant] believed he’s in imminent danger at that point, he did not have to hesitate.” Tr. 701, ll. 15-25.

The trial court found the requested charge only applies when the defendant and the victim are both armed. It asserted, “I think what the Court in those cases [State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997) and State v. Rash, 182 S.C. 42, 188 S.E. 435 (1936)] is saying is when both are armed you don’t have to wait.” It concluded that “if he [Appellant] believed that the victim was going for his gun, then he had a right to act on it. I think that [the right to act on

appearances charge] covers it. And that's what I'm charging." Tr. 702, l. 10 – 703, l. 4.

Consequently, the court refused to charge the requested instruction.

The trial court ultimately charged the jury on self-defense as follows:

The defendant has raised the defense of self-defense. Self-defense is a complete defense, and if it is established, you must find the defendant not guilty. The state has a burden of disproving self-defense by proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

If you have a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt after considering all of the evidence, including the evidence of self-defense, then you must find the defendant not guilty. On the other hand, if you have no reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt after considering all of the evidence, including the evidence of self-defense, then you must find the defendant guilty.

The elements of self-defense are as follows. First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. If the defendant's conduct was a type which was reasonably calculated to and did provoke a deadly assault, the defendant would be at fault in bringing on the difficulty and would not be entitled to an acquittal based on self-defense.

The second element of self-defense is that the defendant was actually in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury. If the defendant was actually in imminent danger, it must be shown that the circumstances would've warranted a person of ordinary firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow to prevent death or serious bodily injury.

If the defendant believed he was in imminent - - imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury, it must be shown that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would've had the same belief. In deciding whether the defendant actually was or believed he was in imminent danger of death or serious bodily injury, you should consider all the facts and circumstances surrounding the crime, including the physical condition and characteristics of the parties involved.

The defendant does not have to show that he was actually in danger. It is enough if the defendant believed he was in imminent danger and a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have had the same belief.

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