**RECEIVED**

**Dec 31 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Lexington County  
The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

TREVOR ANTHONY IRVIN,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001075

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 104865

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. S. RICK HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. Appellant did not establish that the victim’s alleged membership in a gang was relevant to his self-defense charge, and so the trial court appropriately excluded Appellant’s self-serving testimony to that effect.**

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by excluding his testimony that the victim was allegedly a member of a gang. However, this evidence was irrelevant to the issues at trial and would have suggested the jury reach its verdict on an improper basis. The trial court was correct to exclude it.

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence narrowly constrain when character evidence and evidence of other crimes or bad acts may be admitted at trial. *See* Rule 404, SCRE. These protections are not just for defendants, but extend to others involved in our court system as well. *See* Rule 404(a) (restricting “[e]vidence of a person’s character or a trait of character”); Rule 404(b) (holding that “[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show conformity therewith”). The rules also allow a trial court to exclude relevant evidence “if its probative value is outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury,” among other considerations, *see* Rule 403.

As an initial matter, South Carolina courts have recently held that evidence of gang membership is subject to the prohibition against introducing evidence of other bad acts to prove character. *See Johnson v. State*, 433 S.C. 550, 556, 860 S.E.2d 696, 699 (Ct. App. 2021) (“Without question, the testimony about [the defendant’s] gang affiliation was prior bad act evidence.”); *see also State v. Robinson*, 438 S.C. 421, 437, 882 S.E.2d 883, 891 (Ct. App. 2023) (same), *reh’g denied* (Feb. 9, 2023). For that reason, Appellant must show that his testimony that the victim was in a gang was relevant for some purpose other than demonstrating the victim’s bad character. *See Johnson*, 433 S.C. at 555, 860 S.E.2d at 699 (“Such evidence—commonly referred to in our state

as ‘prior bad act’ or *Lyle* evidence<sup>4</sup>—is not admissible unless its proponent can demonstrate it has a legitimate purpose, i.e. the evidence does something more than prove a person has a propensity to commit crimes.”).

Here, Appellant’s argument regarding self-defense is inextricably bound up with the evidence’s tendency to show propensity. Appellant wanted to prove to the jury that the victim was someone to be feared because he was someone who was dangerous; Appellant knew (and the jury can know) that the victim was dangerous because he was allegedly in a gang and gang members are inherently dangerous.<sup>5</sup> *Cf. Johnson*, 433 S.C. at 556, 860 S.E.2d at 699–700 (“Prior bad act evidence ‘is not rejected because character is irrelevant; on the contrary, it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them as to prejudice one with a bad general record and deny him a fair opportunity to defend against a particular charge.’” (quoting *Michelson v. United States*, 335 U.S. 469, 475–76, 69 S.Ct. 213, 93 L.Ed. 168 (1948))). For example, in *Johnson*, the evidence showed the motive for a murder that otherwise might have appeared “senseless.” *See id.* at 557, 860 S.E.2d at 700. But in the present case, jurors had no need to try to extrapolate a motive for the shooting, because the entire incident was captured on video. They could judge for themselves whether the victim was acting threateningly to Appellant.

---

<sup>4</sup> After *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

<sup>5</sup> This case is distinguishable from *State v. Day*, in which the court held that other bad acts evidence could be admitted in a self-defense case if they “were so closely connected at point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm.” 341 S.C. 410, 419–20, 535 S.E.2d 431, 436 (2000). Appellant’s vague, conclusory statements about hearing conversations of unspecified gang activity by the victim and others differs from the specific act that the court was considering in *Day*. *See id.* at 421, 535 S.E.2d at 437.

Furthermore, even if the evidence of victim's alleged gang membership was for an appropriate purpose, the risk that the jury would use it for improper purposes far outweighed its probative value.

Probative value is decided in light of the full context of the trial, especially considering what issues were before the jury. "To understand the probative value of any evidence, we must consider what was practically in dispute at trial. . . . We must then consider how important the challenged evidence is to resolving the practically disputed questions." *State v. Phillips*, 430 S.C. 319, 327, 844 S.E.2d 651, 655 (2020).

The issue in dispute at Appellant's trial was whether he had a right to defend himself against the victim. If Appellant feared that the victim might overpower the Appellant and take his weapon—the primary theory offered by Appellant at the trial—then the victim's alleged gang membership is of limited probative value. After all, someone who could overpower Appellant and grab his weapon might endanger him whether that person was a member of a gang or a pillar of the community.

On the other hand, the prejudicial value of testimony regarding victim's alleged gang membership was enormous. It could have led the juror to believe that the victim had it coming; that he was a danger to the community who was better disposed of than left to walk the streets; that Appellant, in some way, did everyone a favor. *Cf. Johnson*, 433 S.C. at 559, 860 S.E.2d at 701 ("Mention of gangs summons a stigma of lawlessness, and Rule 403 requires exclusion of gang evidence if the prejudicial risk substantially outweighs the evidence's probative value.").

Not only was the evidence here not probative, its relevancy is dubious. *See* Rule 402, SCRE ("Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.").

Courts in other states have also confronted the relevancy of gang membership in self-defense cases. For example, the court in *London v. State* faced a similar situation. *See London*, 325 S.W.3d 197 (Tex. Ct. App. 2008).<sup>6</sup> There, the court affirmed the trial court’s decision to exclude evidence of the victim’s “‘violent past’—gang affiliation and terrorizing the neighborhood.”<sup>7</sup> *Id.* at 206. The defendant in *London* claimed that he shot back at a car in which the victim was riding after someone from the car shot at him. *See id.* at 203. The Texas Court of Appeals reasoned that because the defendant could claim self-defense based on the alleged shots being fired from the car, the victim’s other actions were not admissible. *See id.* at 205–06. The court held:

When a deceased’s unambiguous, violent, or aggressive act needs no explaining, evidence of the deceased’s extraneous conduct would have no relevance apart from its tendency to prove his character conformity, and thus would be inadmissible. Before a specific, violent act will be admissible to support a claim of self-defense, there must be some evidence of a violent or aggressive act by the deceased that tends to raise the issue of self-defense and that the specific extraneous conduct may explain.

*Id.* at 205 (citations omitted).

---

<sup>6</sup> The Texas rule regarding character evidence is structured slightly differently than South Carolina’s, but contains substantively the same restrictions on such evidence. *Compare* Tex. R. Evid. Rule 404(a)(3) (“(A) In a criminal case, subject to the limitations in Rule 412, a defendant may offer evidence of a victim’s pertinent trait, and if the evidence is admitted, the prosecutor may offer evidence to rebut it. (B) In a homicide case, the prosecutor may offer evidence of the victim’s trait of peacefulness to rebut evidence that the victim was the first aggressor.”), *with* Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE (allowing “[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same, or evidence of a character trait of peacefulness of the victim offered by the prosecution in a homicide case to rebut evidence that the victim was the first aggressor[.]”). The Texas Court of Appeals found that the defendant in *London* had not preserved an argument regarding the first aggressor provision of the rule. *See London*, 325 S.W.2d at 205.

<sup>7</sup> The *London* court reversed the conviction on other grounds. *See id.* at 207–09.

The same reasoning applies here. Appellant's self-defense argument was premised on his belief that the victim went for his gun during their altercation. Whether the victim was a member of a gang had no relevance to that, much less probative value.

Nothing in *Sobers* is to the contrary. It is true that the *Sobers* court noted that the defendant did not testify that the victim's and some witnesses' involvement in a gang increased his fear. *See State v. Sobers*, 404 S.C. 263, 268, 744 S.E.2d 588, 590–91 (Ct. App. 2013). However, the court discussed that as part of its consideration of the relevance of the evidence to the defendant's self-defense argument. *See id.* ("According to *Sobers*, the mob action caused him to fear for his life and fire his gun, but he never testified he was more fearful because the mob was part of a gang. Thus, *Sobers* never introduced evidence that would make the gang activity relevant."). Likewise, in this case, even with Appellant's testimony, there was little basis for claiming that the victim's alleged gang membership made the victim a greater danger to Appellant than anyone reaching for the gun would be.

Finally, even if admission of the evidence was error, it was without a doubt harmless. *See State v. Reeves*, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) ("Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial."). Jurors were able to watch footage of the altercation between Appellant and his victim. As a result, the jurors had an opportunity to consider for themselves whether the victim's actions were threatening enough to justify Appellant's fear that the victim endangered him. According to its verdict, the jury obviously did not believe Appellant's self-defense. Assassinating the character of the victim would not have changed that.

For those reasons, this court should find there was no error in the trial court's decision to exclude the allegations that the victim was involved in a gang, and if there was such error, it was harmless. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**II. The trial court gave a full and accurate summation of South Carolina’s law regarding self-defense in its instructions to the jury, and so there was no error in those instructions.**

Appellant next argues that the trial court did not properly instruct the jury in regard to South Carolina’s law of self-defense. Appellant’s requested charge was unnecessary, and the trial court properly declined to give it. There was no error.

Here, the State and Appellant agree on the relevant rule. “[A] trial judge should specifically tailor the self-defense instruction to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by the defendant. A self-defense charge is erroneous where the trial court fails to charge on elements of the defense which were applicable to the issues presented by the defendant.” *State v. Day*, 341 S.C. 410, 418, 535 S.E.2d 431, 435 (2000) (citation omitted).

Here, the trial court tailored its instructions to Appellant’s case. Appellant simply asked for an instruction that was not applicable.

Appellant argues that the standard self-defense instruction in *State v. Davis* is not sufficient if there are additional relevant aspects of South Carolina law that must be charged. *See Davis*, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452 (per curiam). That is true. It is also true that the trial court in this case did not simply give a *Davis* charge. In fact, the trial court gave two of the three charges that the *Fuller* court found erroneously excluded in that case—those regarding the right to act on appearances and “words accompanied by hostile acts.” *State v. Fuller*, 297 S.C. 440, 443, 377 S.E.2d 328, 331 (1989).

Contrary to Appellant’s assertion, whether or not Appellant had to wait before opening fire was not relevant to his self-defense claim. This was not a case where Appellant had to act to “prevent his assailant from getting the drop on him.” *See State v. Rash*, 182 S.C. 42, 188 S.E. 435, 438 (1936). In this case, the series of events that Appellant argued made him feel that self-defense

was warranted took place *before* the fatal shots were fired. The victim had already attempted to get the drop on Appellant and failed; the victim appeared to have been backing away from the confrontation when he was shot. The video shows that, if anything, Appellant did not act too hastily, but acted at best amid the confrontation and at worst after the danger had passed.

The court did not err in failing to charge that the Appellant did not have to wait before exercising his right of self-defense. That charge would not have been relevant to the facts in front of the jurors. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

**III. Appellant’s purported expert witness would not have assisted the jury in deciding Appellant’s state of mind at the time of the shooting, and so the trial court made the appropriate decision in excluding the testimony.**

Finally, Appellant argues that the trial court erred when it excluded his expert witness. But the expert witness’s testimony would not have assisted the jury in assessing the facts in this case. The trial court’s decision was not in error.

In order to admit the testimony of an expert witness, the trial court must find the witness’s testimony could assist the jury in its role as fact-finder. *See* Rule 702, SCRE (“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge *will assist the trier of fact* to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” (emphasis added)); *State v. Galloway*, 443 S.C. 229, 237, 904 S.E.2d 866, 870 (2024) (“To admit expert testimony under Rule 702, the proponent . . . must demonstrate, and the trial court must find, the existence of three elements: the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable.” (quoting *State v. Wallace*, 440 S.C. 537, 544, 892 S.E.2d 310, 313 (2023)) (cleaned up)); *State v. Phillips*, 430 S.C. 319, 335, 844 S.E.2d 651, 659 (2020) (“Before any expert opinion may be admitted into evidence, the proponent of the opinion must convince the trial court that each element of the Rule 702 foundation has been established.”). This is particularly true for so-called “blind experts.” *See Galloway* at 240, 904 S.E.2d at 872 (finding that for blind experts, “the question of whether the testimony ‘will assist the trier of fact’ becomes more important”).

*Galloway* is instructive. There, our supreme court held that the trial court properly excluded testimony from a blind expert about the potential effects of the victim’s post-traumatic stress disorder and schizoaffective disorder on her memory. *See id.* at 236–242, 904 S.E.2d at

870–873. The expert had proffered testimony that PTSD “could . . . have an effect on [the person’s] ability to relate what happened objectively” and that schizoaffective disorder “can cause false memories.” *See id.* at 236, 904 S.E.2d at 870. The court reasoned that the defendant did not show that the evidence was relevant in that case. *See id.* at 240, 904 S.E.2d at 872 (“There was no way the jury could use the knowledge that schizoaffective disorder ‘can’ cause false memories other than to speculate whether the disorder might have done so in this instance.”). The court found that, unlike delayed disclosure testimony in sexual abuse cases, the broad testimony given by the expert did not help the jury decide whether to believe the victim. *See id.* at 229, 240, 904 S.E.2d at 872 (“[T]he abstract fact that ‘some’ people with schizoaffective disorder ‘can’ have false memories gives the jury nothing it can use to determine this victim’s credibility other than to guess. If abstract specialized knowledge is not connected to the facts of the particular case, the jury has no basis on which to use the knowledge except to speculate whether it could have played a role in the case.”).

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